**REDACTED**

Revised Redactions  
in Compliance with  
3 ~~RECEIVED~~ Order  
04-06-2015  
CLERK OF SUPREME  
COURT  
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
SUPREME COURT  
Case Nos. 2013AP2504-2508-W,  
2014AP296-OA, 2014AP417-421-W

---

State of Wisconsin ex rel.,  
Two Unnamed Petitioners,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No. 2014AP296-OA

The Hon. Gregory A. Peterson,  
John Doe Judge, et al.,

Respondents.

---

State of Wisconsin ex rel.,  
Francis D. Schmitz,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 2014AP417-421-W

The Hon. Gregory A. Peterson,  
John Doe Judge,

Respondent.

---

State of Wisconsin ex rel.,  
Three Unnamed Petitioners,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No. 2013AP2504-2508-W

## ISSUES PRESENTED

In the Court's December 16, 2014, Order, it raised 14 Issues for the parties to address. In the Brief below, Movant specifically addresses Issues 7 (including its subparts), 9, and 11 through 14. With respect to Issue 10, [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. While Movant does not have sufficient access to the John Doe record to respond to this Issue in his principal brief, Movant reserves the right to respond to the Special Prosecutor's arguments in his reply brief. As stated within, Movant adopts the arguments of other parties with respect to the remaining Issues to be decided.

ISSUE #7.

Whether the statutory definitions of "contributions," "disbursements," and "political purposes" in Wis. Stat. §§ 11.01(6), (7) and (16) are limited to contributions or expenditures for express advocacy or whether they encompass the conduct of coordination between a candidate or a campaign committee and an independent organization that engages in issue advocacy. If they extend to issue advocacy coordination, what constitutes prohibited "coordination?"

Below, the John Doe judge held that





Below, the John Doe judge held that [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED].

ISSUE #7d.

Whether Wisconsin Coalition for Voter Participation, Inc. v. State Elections Bd., 231 Wis. 2d 670, 605 N.W.2d 654 (Ct. App.), pet. for rev. denied, 231 Wis. 2d 377, 607 N.W.2d 293 (1999), has application to the proceedings pending before this Court.

Below, the John Doe judge held that [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED].

ISSUE #9.

Whether a criminal prosecution may, consistent with due process, be founded on a theory that coordinated issue advocacy constitutes a regulated "contribution" under Wis. Stat. ch. 11.

Below, the John Doe judge did not address this Issue explicitly, [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED].

ISSUE #10.

Whether the records in the John Doe proceedings provide a reasonable belief that Wisconsin law was violated by a campaign committee's coordination with independent advocacy organizations that engaged in express advocacy speech. If so, which records support such a reasonable belief.

Below, the John Doe judge found, [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED].

#### **ISSUE #11.**

If Wis. Stat. ch. 11 prohibits a candidate or a candidate's campaign committee from engaging in "coordination" with an independent advocacy organization that engages solely in issue advocacy, whether such prohibition violates the free speech provisions of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution and/or Article I, Section 3 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

Below, the John Doe judge did not address this Issue.

#### **ISSUE #12.**

Whether pursuant to Wis. Stat. ch. 11, a criminal prosecution may, consistent with due process, be founded on an allegation that a candidate or a candidate committee "coordinated" with an independent advocacy organization's issue advocacy.





## **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT**

Given the statewide importance of the issues presented herein, Unnamed Movant #6 requests that this Court hear oral argument and publish its decision, consistent with the secrecy order.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Unnamed Movants #6 and #7 ("Movants")<sup>1</sup> are among the principal individual targets of a criminal John Doe investigation in Wisconsin that began in 2012 and spurred this litigation. They are strategic communications consultants to non-profit groups that engage in issue advocacy. Movants provide a wide array of advice on how to find, communicate with, and persuade voters on vital political, economic, and other public policy issues of the day. [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Led by the Special Prosecutor, [REDACTED], and assisted by the [REDACTED] County District Attorney, his staff, and the District Attorney's Offices in four other counties, the investigation concerns alleged violations of Wisconsin's campaign finance law. See Joint Appendix filed by Movants at 54, 130-33 ("App."). Movants and certain 501(c)(4) organizations with whom they were generally in political agreement (the "targeted entities")<sup>2</sup> wished, during the 2011-

---

<sup>1</sup>The designations "Unnamed Movant # 6" and "Unnamed Movant #7" derive from the Special Prosecutor's supervisory writ proceeding, discussed *infra*. See *State ex rel. Francis D. Schmitz v. Hon. Gregory A. Peterson, John Doe Judge*, Case Nos. 2014AP417W-21W (Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2014).

12 Wisconsin senate and gubernatorial recall elections, to contribute to the public debate about issues of central concern to them and to many citizens of Wisconsin. In so doing, they did not engage in express advocacy: [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED], the Movants and the targeted entities engaged only in issue advocacy, that is, communications that do not unambiguously exhort voters to elect or defeat a clearly identified candidate but rather attempt to persuade citizens on the merits of important public policy questions. See *FEC v. Wisconsin Right to Life, Inc.*, 551 U.S. 449, 465-72 (2007) ("WRTL") (functional equivalent of express advocacy is a communication that is "susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against a specific candidate").

According to the prosecutors' original unsupported theory of criminal liability, by engaging in undefined "coordination" with candidates and others before and during recall elections periods, Movants' and the targeted entities' expenditures for issue advocacy were converted into "contributions," and incorporated entities are barred from making contributions under Wisconsin campaign finance law, codified in Wis. Stat. Chapter 11. The Special Prosecutor has

---

[REDACTED]  
[REDACTED]





[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]<sup>3</sup> [REDACTED]

[REDACTED]<sup>4</sup>

<sup>3</sup> No candidate was required to file a campaign finance report regarding the recall elections until July 2011. See Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Reports: Senate Dists. 2, 8, 10, 14, 18, 32 (Republican Incumbents)," available at <http://gab.wi.gov/elections-voting/2011/recall/july-12>; Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Reports: Senate Dists. 12, 22, 30 (Democratic Incumbents)," <http://gab.wi.gov/elections-voting/2011/recall/july-19>. Indeed, under Wisconsin election law the recall efforts could not begin until the filing of registration forms with the GAB by the recall committees for each race. Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Recall of Congressional, County and State Officials," at 3 (June 2009), [http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/publication/\65/recall\\_manual\\_for\\_congressiona\\_county\\_and\\_state\\_82919.pdf](http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/publication/\65/recall_manual_for_congressiona_county_and_state_82919.pdf). The first recall committee to file and begin seeking petition signatures did not file its Form GAB-1 until February 22, 2011. "Jim Holperin Recall Committee," <http://gab.wi.gov/node/1657> ("GAB-1 Filing Date: February 22, 2011"). Furthermore, the senators facing recall in 2012 and the Governor were not required to file campaign finance reports regarding their recall elections until April 30, 2012. See Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Checklist: Candidate Committees Special Election Governor, Lt. Governor & Senate Districts 13, 21, 23, and 29," [http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/page/campaign\\_finance\\_checklist\\_candidate\\_committees\\_16123.pdf](http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/page/campaign_finance_checklist_candidate_committees_16123.pdf). Therefore, the warrants' authorization for the seizure of documents from 2009 and 2010 did not cover a reasonable period of time relative to even the alleged misconduct of filing false campaign finance reports regarding the recall elections in 2011 and 2012.

<sup>4</sup> The last campaign finance reports regarding the 2011 Senate Recall campaigns were due in September 2011. See Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Reports: Senate Dists. 2, 8, 10, 14, 18, 32 (Republican Incumbents)," <http://gab.wi.gov/elections-voting/2011/recall/july-12>; Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Reports: Senate Dists. 12, 22, 30 (Democratic Incumbents)," <http://gab.wi.gov/elections-voting/2011/recall/july-19>. The final reports for the 2012 recall candidates were due July 20, 2012. See Wisconsin Government Accountability Board, "Campaign Finance Checklist: Candidate Committees Special Election Governor, Lt. Governor & Senate Districts 13, 21, 23, and 29," [http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/page/campaign\\_finance\\_check](http://gab.wi.gov/sites/default/files/page/campaign_finance_check)



[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

---

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

[REDACTED]

Before the Prosecutor filed his petition for a supervisory writ, however, Movants filed a petition for an original action with this Court on February 7, 2014, seeking clarification of a number of issues relating to the scope of Wisconsin's campaign finance laws. See *State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Hon. Gregory A. Peterson, John Doe Judge, Francis D. Schmitz, Special Prosecutor*, 2014AP296-OA (Wis. Feb. 7, 2014). On February 21, 2014, the Special Prosecutor filed his petition for supervisory writs of prohibition and mandamus in the state court of appeals, challenging the John Doe judge's order [REDACTED] [REDACTED] [REDACTED]. See *State ex rel. Francis D. Schmitz v. Hon. Gregory A. Peterson, John Doe Judge*, Case Nos. 2014AP417W-21W (Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2014). And on April 9, 2014, the Movants filed with this Court a petition to stay or, alternatively, bypass the prosecutor's petition for a supervisory writ.





for bypass of the court of appeals in the supervisory writ proceeding filed in the court of appeals by the Special Prosecutor (Case Nos. 2014AP417-421-W).

Cognizant of the burdens imposed on this Court by the number of parties and issues presented, Movant #6 adopts: the brief of Movant #7 with respect to issues 1 through 5 and issue 14 articulated in this Court's order of December 16, 2014; and the brief of [REDACTED] with respect to issues 6 and 8. Movant #6 will address in this brief the following issues: 7, 9, 11, 12, 13, and 14. With respect to issue 10, Movant notes that [REDACTED] [REDACTED] that there was no probable cause to issue the search warrants, as discussed below. Movant will respond to any additional arguments offered by the prosecutor in the reply brief.

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

This criminal John Doe investigation into alleged campaign finance violations finds no authorization in a hopelessly confusing statute and purports to apply standards invisible to law-abiding citizens. Indeed, it is an unfortunate but undeniable reality that, as the Seventh Circuit recently noted in frustration, Wisconsin's campaign finance system "is labyrinthian and difficult to decipher ..." *Wisconsin Right to Life, Inc. v. Barland*, 751 F.2d 804, 808



(7th Cir. 2014) (“*Barland II*”). Even Kevin J. Kennedy, Director and General Counsel of the Wisconsin Government Accountability Board (“GAB”), recently conceded that “the language of the statutes is convoluted and difficult for the average person to read and understand.” App. at 71. Thus, at the GAB’s January 13, 2015, Board meeting, Mr. Kennedy proposed a GAB resolution that would “urge[] the Legislature to undertake a comprehensive review and revision of [Chapter 11] ...” *Id.*

Yet during the years-long existence of this investigation into core First Amendment-protected conduct, Movants’ privacy has been irreparably invaded [REDACTED] and their reputations and livelihoods have been seriously compromised. The root of their misfortune – indeed, the foundation of the prosecutor’s investigation – is the prosecutor’s insistence that Wis. Stat. ch. 11, Wisconsin’s campaign finance system, regulates constitutionally-protected issue advocacy. As this Brief demonstrates below, opinions of the United States Supreme Court and this Court, Chapter 11’s plain text and legislative history, an opinion from the Wisconsin Attorney General, and advisory opinions from the GAB all reveal that issue advocacy is purposefully omitted from Chapter 11’s reach.

In fact, as this Court will see, the legislative history of Chapter 11 demonstrates that the Wisconsin Legislature acted against the backdrop of *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1 (1976), discussed *infra*, to limit campaign finance regulation to express advocacy. This Court definitively adopted this construction of Chapter 11 in *Elections Bd. of Wisconsin v. Wisconsin Manufacturers & Commerce*, 227 Wis.2d 650, 597 N.W.2d 721 (1999) ("*WMC*").

Moreover, Chapter 11 simply does not regulate coordinated advocacy, whether issue or express advocacy, as a contribution. A thorough reading of Chapter 11 from beginning to end reveals a complete absence of any provision defining coordinated advocacy of any kind as a contribution. The Wisconsin Legislature's decision not to include such a definition - which has clearly and explicitly been included in other jurisdictions' campaign finance statutes with which the Legislature was familiar - conclusively demonstrates the Legislature's decision not to regulate coordinated advocacy as a "contribution." And, in any event, where coordination is regulated in Chapter 11 - through disclosure requirements rather than contribution limits - it is only with respect to express advocacy.

Chapter 11's regulation of "coordination," moreover, does not provide the public with the clarity required under

the Due Process Clause as to what is permitted and what is proscribed. The Attorney General, in declining to become involved in this investigation, explained that Wisconsin's "coordination" campaign finance law "is not a model of statutory precision or consistency." App. at 55. Further, the GAB's predecessor, the State Elections board, conceded in an "advisory" opinion subsequently adopted by the GAB – and frequently cited by the Special Prosecutor – that what constitutes regulated "coordination" is undefined by statute or judicial decision and is functionally a "slippery slope"; ultimately, it could only opine as to what the relevant standards "probably" were. App. at 98. In 2005, the GAB reiterated its conclusion that the term "'coordinated expenditures' is not found anywhere in Wisconsin's statutes, and is not defined and only minimally discussed in Wisconsin case law." App. at 102-03. This 2005 advisory opinion concluded as a result that "any opinion about coordinated expenditures is principally conjectural because of the limited precedent. ... Without it, there is no clear direction ..." App. at 103.

The GAB's assessment is both refreshingly frank and legally fatal to this investigation. It is beyond dispute that what Chapter 11 regulates is core First Amendment speech and association, and thus that the normal requisites of due

process - sufficient notice to prevent the chilling of constitutionally-privileged activity and sufficient definition to avoid the possibility of arbitrary enforcement - must be applied with exacting precision. See, e.g., *Buckley v. Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1, 41 (1976). It is also clear that Chapter 11 is a classic form of *malum prohibitum* (wrong because prohibited), not a *malum in se* (wrong because evil), regulation. No amount of moral intuition can tell individuals where the line lies between acts that are essential to a vibrant democracy and acts that may subject one to a prison term for campaign finance violations. Where the state seeks to put someone in jail for failing to hew to a line founded only in ill-defined public policy preferences and not morality, and where the line, if not scrupulously drawn, will cause irreparable constitutional injury, it is the state's due process obligation to create explicit, crystal clear, and rigorously applied standards to guide the political conduct of its citizens. Chapter 11 utterly fails to meet this standard if, as the Special Prosecutor demands, a criminal penalty is to be affixed as a result of the targeted entities' alleged coordination of issue advocacy with candidates.

Finally, it would be a perversion of the plain language and intent of Chapter 11 - as well as a radical and dangerous precedent - to accept the Special Prosecutor's desperate

argument that autonomous and longstanding 501(c) issue advocacy groups, which are expressly excluded from regulation under Chapter 11, have somehow become highly regulated personal campaign subcommittees by virtue of alleged coordination. And, in any event, it would be unconstitutional under the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Sections 3 and 4 of the Wisconsin Constitution, to construe coordinated issue advocacy as a reportable contribution subject to campaign finance limitations.

As the U.S. Supreme Court exclaimed in *WRTL*, in granting an as-applied challenge to the constitutionality of a federal regulation purporting to restrict issue ads, “[e]nough is enough.” 551 U.S. at 478. This constitutionally unsustainable assault on Movants’ core First Amendment rights has done more than simply chill Movants’ – and a multitude of others’ – exercise of fundamental rights to free speech, association, and petition; it has acted as an arctic blast, freezing them into a state of paralysis.

## **II. ARGUMENT**

Chapter 11’s definitions of “contribution” and “disbursement” are the ultimate touchstones for determining what is regulated under Wisconsin campaign finance law. See *Barland II*, 751 F.3d at 815. The Legislature used these terms explicitly and consistently to define the reach of regulation.

Thus, for example, "committee" status under the statute "triggers substantial and continuous organizational, registration, and recordkeeping requirements." *Id.* at 815. But to be a regulated "committee" or "political committee" (or a "group" or "political group"), a group of persons or an entity must, at a minimum, make or accept "contributions" or make "disbursements." Wis. Stat. §11.01(4), (10).

The meaning and application of "contribution" and "disbursement" – and other provisions of Chapter 11 – are limited by "the all-important phrase": "made for political purposes." *Barland II*, 751 F.3d at 815. The Wisconsin Legislature defined a "contribution," in relevant part, as a "gift, subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value ... *made for political purposes.*" Wis. Stat. §11.01(6)(a)(1) (emphasis added); see also *id.* at §11.01(6)(b)(7). Chapter 11 defines a "disbursement," in relevant part, as "[a] purchase, payment, distribution, loan, advance, deposit, or gift of money or anything of value ... *made for political purposes.*" *Id.* at §11.01(7)(a)(1) (emphasis added). In short, for an expenditure of funds to be considered a "disbursement" or a "contribution" regulated by Wisconsin campaign finance law – and subject to Chapter 11's reporting requirements and contribution limits – such expenditure must be made "for political purposes." "Chapter 11 is structured

so that political-committee status is determined indirectly, by the making or acceptance of 'contributions' or the making of 'disbursements,'" which ultimately is determined by the phrase "for political purposes." *Barland II*, 751 F.2d at 812.

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