RECEIVED

03-11-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT In the Supreme Court of Wisco**o**fiwISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin <i>ex rel</i> . Three Unnamed Petitioners, Two Unnamed Petitioners, and Francis Schmitz, <i>Petitioners</i>	Case Nos.: 2013AP2504- 2508-W 2014AP296-OA 2014AP417- 421-W
Gregory Peterson <i>et al.</i> ,	
Respondents	

Amicus Brief of Wisconsin Right to Life, Inc., in Support of Respondent Gregory Peterson

Michael D. Dean, Wis. No. 1019171 FIRST FREEDOMS FOUNDATION, INC. 10735 West Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 100 Brookfield, Wis. 53005 Telephone (262) 798-8046 Facsimile (262) 798-8045 Local Counsel for Amicus

March 10, 2015

Other Authorities

Bopp & Abegg, The Developing Constitutional Standards for "Coordinated Expenditures:" Has the Federal Election

Commission Finally Found a Way to Regulate Issue Advocacy?,
1 Election Law Journal 209 (2002) 26

Constitutional Provisions

WIS.	CONST.	art. I	V, §1		11	
------	--------	--------	-------	--	----	--

Consistent with its mission to engage in education, charitable activity, and lobbying in Wisconsin, Amicus Wisconsin Right to Life, Inc. ("WRTL"), engages in political speech.

WRTL – *via* its counsel in *WRTL v. Barland*, 751 F.3d 804 (7th Cir.2014) ("*Barland-II*") (Sykes, J., joined by Posner & Flaum, JJ.) – files this brief in support of Respondent Gregory Peterson.

I. Barland-II's main holding is not at issue here.

Although one part of *Barland-II* is central to this appeal, *Barland-II's* main holding is *not* at issue here, and there is no need to revisit it.

Barland-II's main holding addresses law regulating¹ speech and is based on Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 79 (1976), followed in McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 170n.64 (2003) (overruled on other grounds, Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 336-66 (2010)), and FEC v. Massachusetts Citizens for Life, Inc., 479 U.S. 238, 252n.6, 262 (1986) ("MCFL").

¹ I.e., requiring disclosure of, which differs from "limiting." See Yamada v. Kuramoto, 744 F.Supp.2d 1075, 1082&n.9 (D.Haw. 2010).

"Referring to organizations that are not under the control of any candidate(s) in their capacities as candidates, *Barland-II* holds that Wisconsin may trigger political-committee or politicalcommittee-like burdens only for organizations that have the 'major purpose' of 'express advocacy."" *WRTL v. Barland*, No.2:10-cv-00669-CNC, DECLARATORY J. & PERMANENT INJ. FOLLOWING *BARLAND-II* at 6-7, 2015-WL-658465 (E.D.Wis. Jan. 30, 2015, *as amended* Feb. 13, 2015) ("*Barland-II* DJ-PI")² (footnotes omitted) (citing *Barland-II*, 751 F.3d at 834, 839, 841, 842, 844).³

This holding "resolve[s] as-applied and facial overbreadth ... as opposed to as applied and facial vagueness." *Id.* at 6 (citing *Barland-II*, 751 F.3d at 839).⁴

² Copy in addendum and at http://gab.wi.gov.

³ Other challenges to Wisconsin law did not raise this issue. *See Barland-II*, 751 F.3d at 827.

⁴ "Overbreadth" applies to both as-applied and facial claims. *E.g., Alaska Right to Life Comm. v. Miles,* 441 F.3d 773, 785 (9th Cir.) ("*ARLC*"), cert. denied, 549 U.S. 886 (2006).

Amicus is unaware of any effort to trigger politicalcommittee(-like) burdens here. Should any such effort arise, *Barland-II's* main holding would apply.

II. Wisconsin cannot proceed under unconstitutional law.

The John Doe proceedings in this appeal arise from allegations that an elected official's campaign committee coordinated fundraising, and speech about particular issues, with an independent organization. *O'Keefe v. Chisholm*, 769 F.3d 936, 937 (7th Cir.2014), *pet. for cert. filed*, No.14-872 (U.S. Jan. 21, 2015).

"A John Doe judge" must "conduct a hearing if the John Doe petition" alleges "objective, factual assertions" supporting "a reasonable belief that a crime has been committed." *In re Doe Petition*, 750 N.W.2d 873, 878n.3 (Wis. 2008) (citation omitted), *modified on other grounds*, 756 N.W.2d 34 (Wis. 2008).

However, a test can "be both objective and vague." National Org. for Marriage, Inc. v. McKee, 669 F.3d 34, 47 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 133 S.Ct. 163 (2012). And there can be no "crime" under a law that unconstitutionally restricts speech. *See State v. Princess Cinema of Milwaukee, Inc.,* 292 N.W.2d 807, 815 (Wis. 1980).

III. Wisconsin law is unconstitutional.

Indirect contributions can include particular speech coordinated with candidates. *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 46-47, 78.

The instigators of the John Doe proceedings appear to believe that under Wisconsin law, *any* speech "coordinated" with "a candidate" is a contribution to the candidate's campaign, *Wisconsin Coal. for Voter Participation, Inc. v. Elections Bd.,* 605 N.W.2d 654, 660 (Wis. App.1999) ("*WCVP*"), because the conduct of coordination with a candidate suffices, regardless of the content of the speech. *See id.* at 658-62.

But as a matter of (a) Wisconsin law and (b) constitutional law, that cannot be right.

A. Wisconsin law's "purpose of influencing" elections language is unconstitutionally vague. Unlike *Barland-II*, the Court should limit this language to *Buckley* express advocacy.

Under the Wisconsin statute, there is a content standard,⁵ because the statute restricts what counts as a contribution. For example, not every "[]thing of value" counts. WIS. STAT. 11.01(6)(a)1., 3. Among the restrictions on what counts are that the "[]thing of value" must be "made for political purposes" or "for a political purpose." *Id.* This means it must be for the "purpose of influencing" elections. *Id.* 11.01(16).

However, "purpose of influencing" elections is unconstitutionally vague. *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 77 (ellipsis omitted); *Barland-II*, 751 at 833, 843-44; *Barland-II* DJ-PI at 4.

Addressing *federal* law, *Buckley* resolves the vagueness of "purpose of influencing" elections, 424 U.S. at 77 (ellipsis omitted), by limiting it to *Buckley* express advocacy, *id.* at 78-80, *i.e.*, "communications that in express terms advocate the election

⁵ By holding otherwise, *WCVP* expands the statute, which a *court* may not do. *See* WIS. CONST. art. IV, §1 ("The legislative power shall be vested in a senate and assembly").

or defeat of a clearly identified candidate" using terms "such as 'vote for,' 'elect,' 'support,' 'cast your ballot for,' 'Smith for Congress,' 'vote against,' 'defeat,' 'reject."" *Id.* at 44&n.52. To be *Buckley* express advocacy, speech need not include the specific *Buckley* words. Synonyms suffice. That is what "such as" means. *Id.* at 44n.52; *Elections Bd. v. Wisconsin Mfgrs. & Commerce*, 597 N.W.2d 721, 730-31 (Wis.1999) ("WMC"). Nevertheless, *Buckley* express advocacy requires "explicit words of advocacy[.]" *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 43; WMC, 597 N.W.2d at 737 (quoting *Buckley*, 424 U.S. at 43); *see also WMC*, 597 N.W.2d at 730-31.

Barland-II's narrowing gloss is different.

Addressing Wisconsin law, Barland-II attempts to resolve the vagueness of "purpose of influencing" elections by limiting it – "as applied to political speakers other than candidates, their campaign committees, and political parties" – to "express advocacy or its functional equivalent as those terms were explained in Buckley and FEC v. [WRTL, 551 U.S. 449 (2007) ('WRTL-II').]" Barland-II DJ-PI at 4-5 (original brackets omitted) (quoting 751 F.3d at 844). "As applied to such speakers, this law reaches no further than 'express advocacy and its functional equivalent as those terms were explained in *Buckley*' and *WRTL-II*." *Id*. at 5.

The "functional equivalent of express advocacy" – which Citizens United "re-labels ... as the "appeal[-]to[-]vote" test[,]" id. at 5n.23 (quoting 558 U.S. at 335) – was different from express advocacy. It reached beyond Buckley's words and synonyms for them. It applied when there were no explicit words of advocacy and asked whether the only reasonable interpretation of Federal Election Campaign Act ("FECA") electioneering communications⁶ was as an appeal to vote for or against a clearly identified candidate. WRTL-II, 551 U.S. at 469-70, 474n.7; North Carolina Right to Life, Inc. v. Leake, 525 F.3d 274, 282 (4th Cir.2008) ("NCRL-III"); Colorado Ethics Watch v. Senate Majority Fund, LLC, 269 P.3d 1248, 1257-58 (Colo. 2012); see Barland-II, 751 F.3d at 819-21, 823.

⁶ Defined in McConnell, 540 U.S. at 189-94.

Seventh Circuit narrowing glosses of Wisconsin law do not bind Wisconsin courts: "[A]n important difference between interpretation of a state statute by a federal court and by a state court is that only the latter interpretation is authoritative." *Kucharek v. Hanaway*, 902 F.2d 513, 517 (7th Cir.1990) (Posner, J.⁷), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1041 (1991). This principle applies to campaign-finance law. See Barland-II, 751 F.3d at 833 ("A federal court cannot 'make a binding interpretation of a state statute, endeavoring to trim its vague provisions" (quoting *Center for Individual Freedom v. Madigan*, 697 F.3d 464, 500 (7th Cir.2012) (Posner, J., concurring/dissenting))); Virginia Soc'y for Human Life, Inc. v. Caldwell, 152 F.3d 268, 270 (4th Cir.1998) ("VSHL-F") (quoting Kucharek, 902 F.2d at 517).

This Court should disregard the appeal-to-vote-test part of *Barland-II's* narrowing gloss, first because *Barland-II* based it on a false premise about *WMC* and second because it is incorrect.

⁷ Who joined Barland-II. Supra 7.

•First, the premise is that *WMC* understood Wisconsin law to reach "express advocacy and its functional equivalent." 751 F.3d at 833 (citing 597 N.W.2d at 728-31).

However, this Court decided *WMC* in 1999. The "functional equivalent of express advocacy" first arose in U.S. Supreme Court case law four years later, *McConnell*, 540 U.S. at 206, and the Court defined it four years after that. *WRTL-II*, 551 U.S. at 469-70, 474n.7.

By citing *WMC* pages 728-31, *Barland-II*, 751 F.3d at 833, appears to confuse "such as" in *Buckley* – which *WMC* correctly explains on pages $730-31^8$ – with the appeal-to-vote test. They are *not* the same.⁹

 $^{^{8}}$ Supra 12.

⁹ Supra 11-13. The root of the confusion may be that Wisconsin law itself:

[•]Used "functional equivalents" without defining it before it meant the appeal-to-vote test in U.S. Supreme Court case law, *Barland-II*, 751 F.3d at 821-22 (quoting EL BD 1.28(2) (2001)), and

[•]Carried "functional equivalents" forward afterward, *id.* at 826 (quoting GAB 1.28(3)(a) (2010)), while separately including (an imperfect version of) the appeal-to-vote test. *Compare id.* (quoting GAB 1.28(3)(b) (2010)) *with supra* 13.

At most, WMC elsewhere quotes language similar to part of the appeal-to-vote test – language that the Ninth Circuit incorrectly used to expand *Buckley* express advocacy beyond explicit words of advocacy, 597 N.W.2d at 733 ("no other reasonable interpretation but as an exhortation to vote for or against a specific candidate" (quoting *FEC v. Furgatch*, 807 F.2d 857, 864 (9th Cir.) *cert. denied*, 484 U.S. 850 (1987))) – and then provides counterpoints. *See id.* at 733-34. Consistent with the counterpoints, the Ninth Circuit has abandoned this *Furgatch* language and held that express advocacy requires "explicit words of advocacy." *California Pro-Life Council v. Getman*, 328 F.3d 1088, 1098 (9th Cir.2003) ("*CPLC-I*") (citing 807 F.2d at 864).

•Second, the appeal-to-vote test *cannot be* a form of express advocacy.

Notwithstanding *Barland-II*, EL BD 1.28(2) could not have "understood" "functional equivalent" in the *WRTL-II* "sense" of the words, 751 F.3d at 822, because EL BD 1.28 was promulgated in 2001, and *WRTL-II* was decided in 2007.

Rather, "as ... explained in" and "consistent with the lead opinion in" WRTL-II, Barland-II, 751 F.3d at 834, 838, 844, the appeal-to-vote test applied only to FECA electioneering communications, 551 U.S. at 474n.7 ("this test is only triggered if the speech" is a FECA electioneering communication "in the first place"); NCRL-III, 525 F.3d at 282; Colorado Ethics, 269 P.3d at 1257-58; see Barland-II, 751 F.3d at 819-21, 823, which by definition are not expenditures/independent expenditures. 52U.S.C. 30104(f)(3)(B)(ii).¹⁰ Only expenditures/independent expenditures are express advocacy. Buckley, 424 U.S. at 44&n.52, 80.

After *Citizens United*, the appeal-to-vote test no longer affects whether government may ban, otherwise limit, or regulate speech. *See* 558 U.S. at 324-26, 365-66, **368-69** (holding that government may *not ban or otherwise limit* FECA electioneering communications even when they *are* the functional equivalent,

 $^{^{10}}$ Under the Constitution, "independent expenditure" means *Buckley* express advocacy, 424 U.S. at 44&n.52, 80, that is not coordinated with a candidate. *Id.* at 46-47, 78.

and holding that government may *regulate* FECA electioneering communications even when they are *not* the functional equivalent). *Citizens United* thereby "eliminated the context in which the appeal-to-vote test has had any significance" under the Constitution. *National Org. for Marriage, Inc. v. McKee,* 649 F.3d 34, 69 (1st Cir.2011), *cert. denied,* 132 S.Ct. 1635 (2012).

Barland-II believes Citizens United pages 3[68-]69 have appeal-to-vote-test dictum, 751 F.3d at 836, so the test remains in constitutional law. Id. at 838. Barland-II crucially believes Citizens United:

•(1) holds, on pages 324-2[6], that *all* the speech at issue – a FECA-electioneering-communication movie and FECA-electioneering-communication ads for it – is the functional equivalent, and

•(2) allows, on pages **3[68-]69**, *non*-politicalcommittee reporting of FECA electioneering communications even when they are *not* the functional equivalent.

Id. at 823, 824-25, 836. Point 2 is correct. *If* Point 1 were entirely correct, Point 2 would be *dictum*. But Point 1 is *incorrect*: Only the movie was the functional equivalent, so Point 2 is not *dictum*. *Independence Inst. v. FEC*, _____F.Supp.3d_____, No.14-1500(CKK), manuscript order at 9, 2014-WL-4959403 (D.D.C. Oct. 6, 2014) (holding correctly on *dictum*, and then addressing "disclosure" without acknowledging correct *Barland-II* holdings¹¹).¹²

Furthermore, *Citizens United*, 558 U.S. at **368-69**, allows *disclosure – reporting, attributions, and disclaimers –* for FECA electioneering communications regardless of whether they are appeal-to-vote speech, *i.e.*, the functional equivalent. But no *disclosure* is at issue here. By calling particular speech

¹² Available at

¹¹ E.g., supra 7-8.

https://ecf.dcd.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/show_public_doc?2014cv1500-24.

coordinated, it becomes a *contribution* and is subject to speech *limits. FEC v. Colorado Republican Fed. Campaign Comm.*, 533 U.S. 431, 437-65 (2001) ("Colorado Republican-II").

Moreover:

•Under WRTL-II, the appeal-to-vote test is vague as to speech other than FECA electioneering communications. See 551 U.S. at 474n.7 (answering a charge that "our test" is "impermissibly vague" partly by saying "this test is only triggered if the speech" is a FECA electioneering communication "in the first place"). Elsewhere the test "might ... create an unwieldy standard that would be difficult to apply" and unconstitutionally chill political speech. Colorado Ethics, 269 P.3d at 1258 (citing WRTL-II, 551 U.S. at 468-69), and

•After *Citizens United*, what remains from *WRTL-II* regarding the test is the conclusion that the test is unconstitutionally vague, even *vis-à-vis* FECA electioneering communications. 551 U.S. at 492-94 (Scalia, J., concurring).

Because the appeal-to-vote test is vague, *id.*, the *Barland-II* safe harbor for when speech is *not* appeal-to-vote speech, *i.e.*, is *not* the functional equivalent, *see* 751 F.3d at 820-21 (quoting *WRTL-II*, 551 U.S. at 470), does *not* resolve the vagueness of the appeal-to-vote test. Outside the safe harbor, no one can know where the boundaries are.

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